STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

ORIGINAL

Appeal from Laurens County

Donald B. Hocker, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

v.

ARTHUR JASON BOWERS,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2018-000868

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

RECEIVED

JUN 12 2019

SC Court of Appeals

SUSAN B. HACKETT
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Violating the Eighth Amendment's prohibition on cruel and unusual punishment and the South Carolina Constitution's ban on cruel or unusual punishment, did the trial judge err by sentencing Appellant to fifty years in prison – the functional equivalent of life without the possibility of parole – for murder where Appellant was a mere seventeen years old at the time of the offense and thirty-two years old at the time of his trial and the judge failed to conduct an individualized sentencing proceeding?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In 2003, the police charged Appellant with crimes related to the death of James Bolt. R. 170, l. 17 – R. 171, l. 3. In 2006, Solicitor Jerry Peace determined there was insufficient evidence to prosecute Appellant; therefore, the charges were dismissed. R. 232, ll. 4-20.¹ On March 24, 2017, the new solicitor, David Stumbo presented the case to a Laurens County grand jury. R. 233, ll. 15-20. On that date, the grand jury indicted Appellant for conspiracy (2017-GS-30-520). R. 398. Later, on September 15, 2017, the grand jury indicted Appellant for armed robbery (2017-GS-30-1570). R. 401. Finally, on April 20, 2018, the grand jury indicted Appellant for murder (2018-GS-30-612). R. 404. The state, represented by O. Warren Mowry, Jr., called the case for trial before the Honorable Donald Hocker and a jury on April 23-26, 2018. R. 1. Jay Anderson represented Appellant. R. 1. The jury found Appellant guilty as charged. R. 386, l. 17 – R. 387, l. 10. Judge Hocker sentenced Appellant to fifty years imprisonment for murder, thirty years imprisonment for armed robbery, and five years imprisonment for conspiracy. R. 397, ll. 4-7; R. 400; R. 403; R. 406. He ordered all sentences to be served concurrently. R. 397, ll. 1-3; R. 400; R. 403; R. 406.

On May 4, 2018, Appellant served his notice of appeal. This brief follows.

¹ Walter Bentley was an investigator with law enforcement at the time of Appellant's arrest. Bentley told the jurors that he "absolutely [did] not" agree with Solicitor Peace's decision to dismiss the charges. R. 232, ll. 21-22. In fact, he "questioned that decision greatly." R. 232, ll. 23-24. It was Bentley's "opinion" that Peace was "unaware of some of the main evidence." R. 232, ll. 24-25. When Bentley voiced these concerns, Bentley claimed that Peace told him that if he wanted to prosecute the case that he needed to go to law school and earn a law degree. R. 233, ll. 1-3. There was no objection to this testimony by defense counsel.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only.” State v. Vick, 384 S.C. 189, 197, 682 S.E.2d 275, 279 (Ct. App. 2009) (quoting State v. Wilson, 345 S.C. 1, 5-6, 545 S.E.2d 827, 829 (2001)). The appellate court is “bound by the trial court’s factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous.” Id. (quoting Wilson, 345 S.C. at 5-6, 545 S.E.2d at 829). The reviewing court “does not re-evaluate the facts based on its own view of the preponderance of the evidence but simply determines whether the trial court’s ruling is supported by any evidence.” State v. Slocumb, 412 S.C. 88, 91, 770 S.E.2d 436, 438 (Ct. App. 2015). “A sentence will not be overturned absent an abuse of discretion when the ruling is based on an error of law or a factual conclusion without evidentiary support.” In re M.B.H., 387 S.C. 323, 326, 692 S.E.2d 541, 542 (2010).

ARGUMENT

Violating the Eighth Amendment's prohibition on cruel and unusual punishment and the South Carolina Constitution's ban on cruel or unusual punishment, the trial judge erred by sentencing Appellant to fifty years in prison – the functional equivalent of life without the possibility of parole – for murder where Appellant was a mere seventeen years old at the time of the offense and thirty-two years old at the time of his trial and the judge failed to conduct an individualized sentencing proceeding.

Relevant facts

After the jury returned its guilty verdict, the state requested the judge impose a sentence that was a term of years equivalent to a life sentence. The prosecutor referred to a discussion among the parties in chambers concerning sentencing:

And, Your Honor, as we discussed in chambers, I understand based on the U.S. Supreme Court case given [Appellant's] age at the time of this event, he is not eligible for life without parole; however, we would request that Your Honor sentence him to a substantial number of years that would achieve the same effect.

R. 395, ll. 1-7. Thereafter, the judge gave the state exactly what it asked for by sentencing Appellant to fifty years imprisonment for murder. R. 397, ll. 6-7; R. 406. In fact, the judge made his intent to sentence Appellant to a term of years equivalent to Appellant's life when he informed Appellant that "now [his] life has been taken away" as well. R. 396, ll. 2-8.

Discussion

Error preservation

"It is axiomatic that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge to be preserved for appellate review." Wilder Corp. v. Wilke, 330 S.C. 71, 76, 497 S.E.2d 731, 733 (1998)(citing Creech v. South Carolina Wildlife and Marine Resources Dep't, 328 S.C. 24, 491 S.E.2d 571 (1997)). "Moreover, an objection must be

sufficiently specific to inform the trial court of the point being urged by the objector.” Id. “Error preservation requirements are intended ‘to enable the lower court to rule properly after it has considered all relevant facts, law, and arguments.’” Staubes v. City of Folly Beach, 339 S.C. 406, 412, 529 S.E.2d 543, 546 (2000)(quoting F’On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant, 338 S.C. 406, 422, 526 S.E.2d 716, 724 (2000)). “Without an initial ruling by the trial court, a reviewing court simply would not be able to evaluate whether the trial court committed error.” Id. The rationale of issue preservation is to prevent “a party from keeping an ace card up his sleeve – intentionally or by chance – in hope that an appellate court will accept that ace card and, via a reversal, give him another opportunity to prove his case.” F’On, L.L.C., 338 S.C. at 422, 526 S.E.2d at 724. Further, an appellant may waive his right to appeal a decision by the trial judge through acquiescence. State v. Benton, 338 S.C. 151, 156-157, 526 S.E.2d 228, 231 (2000); Erickson v. Jones Street Publishers, L.L.C., 368 S.C. 444, 481, 629 S.E.2d 653, 673 (2006).

The United States Supreme Court held life sentences for homicide crimes committed while the defendant was under the age of eighteen violated the Eighth Amendment to the United States Constitution unless the state could prove the defendant was irreparably corrupt during an individualized sentencing proceeding. Miller v. Alabama, 567 U.S. 460, 471 (2012). Although no objection was made at the time of sentencing, all parties were aware of the Supreme Court’s opinion as evidenced by the prosecutor’s comments and reference to a conference in the judge’s chambers. Therefore, this issue was raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge ensuring that it was preserved for appellate review.

Generally, the rules of issue preservation are strictly enforced. However, the appellate courts have carved out certain limited exceptions. First, the “lack of subject matter jurisdiction may be raised at anytime, including for the first time on appeal.” State v. Passmore, 363 S.C. 568, 584,

611 S.E.2d 273, 282 (Ct. App. 2005). Another exception is the “doctrine of futility.” Id. Our courts have recognized “that in circumstances where it would be futile to raise an objection to the trial judge, failure to raise the objection will be excused.” Id. A third “exception exists where the interests of minors or incompetents are involved.” Id. at 585, 611 S.E.2d at 282. The final exception is where exceptional circumstances require excusal of error preservation. Id. For example, the Supreme Court found exceptional circumstances existed where failure to review the merits of a sentencing error would result in the defendant remaining incarcerated beyond the legal sentence. State v. Johnston, 333 S.C. 459, 463-464, 510 S.E.2d 423, 425 (1999); see also State v. Vick, 384 S.C. 189, 203, 682 S.E.2d 275, 281-282 (Ct. App. 2009)(excusing error preservation where the sentencing for kidnapping was in violation of the statute).

If this Court determines the issue is not preserved under the traditional error preservation analysis, this Court should find an exceptional circumstance exists and address the issue in the interest of judicial economy. See State v. Bonner, 400 S.C. 561, 567, 735 S.E.2d 525, 528 (Ct. App. 2012) (excusing the lack of preservation to address the merits of the claim, found Bonner’s sentence violated the United States Constitution, vacated the sentence, and remanded the case for re-sentencing). The judge sentenced Appellant to a sentence of fifty years when Appellant was thirty-two-years old for a crime he allegedly committed when he was seventeen-years old, rendering the fifty-year sentence the functional equivalent of a life without parole sentence. Therefore, the sentence violates the Eighth Amendment and the South Carolina Constitution and should be reviewed during the direct appeal process instead of forcing Appellant to wait to raise the issue in post-conviction relief proceedings. See Jeter v. South Carolina Dept. of Transp., 369 S.C. 433, 441 n.6, 633 S.E.2d 143, 147 n.6 (2006); Southern Bell Tel. and Tel. Co. v. Hamm, 306 S.C. 70, 75, 409 S.E.2d 775, 778 (1991).

Introduction

“[C]hildren are constitutionally different from adults for purposes of sentencing.” Miller v. Alabama, 567 U.S. 460, 471 (2012). Using this basic premise, on June 25, 2012, the United States Supreme Court held mandatory sentences of life without parole (LWOP) imposed upon juveniles violated the Eighth Amendment to the United States Constitution. Id. at 479.

“To determine whether a punishment is cruel and unusual, courts must look beyond historical conceptions to ‘the evolving standards of decency that mark the progress of a maturing society.’” Graham v. Florida, 560 U.S. 48, 58 (2010) (quoting Estelle v. Gamble, 429 U.S. 97, 102 (1976)). Over the years, the cases addressing the proportionality of sentences have developed along two general lines: One of those lines imposes categorical rules and generally considers those rules as applied to groups of offenses or offenders. For example, Supreme Court prohibited the death penalty for defendants who committed their crimes before the age of eighteen, Roper v. Simmons, 543 U.S. 551 (2005).

When adopting categorical proportionality rules, the Court first considers “objective indicia of society’s standards, as expressed in legislative enactments and state practice” to determine whether there is a national consensus against the sentencing practice at issue. Id. at 61 (quoting Roper, 543 U.S. at 572). Generally, the Court has relied on social science data and statistics to discern “society’s evolving standards of decency.” Roper, 543 U.S. at 560-77. “[G]uided by ‘the standards elaborated by controlling precedents and by the Court’s own understanding and interpretation of the Eighth Amendment’s text, history, meaning, and purpose,’” the Court, in the exercise of its own independent judgment, then determines whether the punishment in question violates the Eighth Amendment of the Constitution. Graham, 560 U.S. at 61 (quoting Kennedy v. Louisiana, 554 U.S. 407, 421 (2008)).

Not long after the Court's opinion in Miller, our Supreme Court reviewed non-mandatory life sentences for juveniles in South Carolina through the lens of Eighth Amendment jurisprudence. In Aiken v. Byars, 410 S.C. 534, 540-541, 765 S.E.2d 572, 575-576 (2014), the South Carolina Supreme Court held that Miller applied retroactively and to juveniles who were sentenced to non-mandatory terms of life without parole. Finding that "Miller does more than ban mandatory life sentencing schemes for juveniles; it establishes an affirmative requirement that courts fully explore the impact of the defendant's juvenility on the sentence rendered," the Court held the sentencing judge must "take into account how children are different, and how those differences counsel against irrevocably sentencing them to a lifetime in prison" and that this requirement "deserves universal application." Id. at 543, 765 S.E.2d at 577. The Court held the class of petitioners in the case "and those similarly situated" were "entitled to resentencing to allow the inmates to present evidence specific to their attributes of youth and allow the judge to consider such evidence in light of its constitutional weight." Id. at 544, 765 S.E.2d at 577.

Following Miller, courts have confronted the question of what constitutes a "life without parole sentence," particularly, in light of the Court's mandate that juvenile offenders *must* be afforded a *meaningful opportunity* for release unless there has been a finding of irreparable corruption. In order to answer this question, a review of the evolution of the Court's Eighth Amendment jurisprudence as it applies to juveniles is of assistance and of particular import to Appellant's appeal.

No death penalty for children

In Roper, the Supreme Court established a categorical ban on the death penalty for juveniles relying in large part on social science research indicating that youths have a lessened culpability and are less deserving of the most severe punishments. 543 U.S. at 569-75. Juvenile offenders are

fundamentally different from adults for purposes of sentencing for three reasons: (1) they are immature and have “an underdeveloped sense of responsibility;” (2) they “are more vulnerable or susceptible to negative influences and outside pressures, including peer pressure;” and (3) their characters are “not as well formed” as adults. Id. at 569-70 (internal citations omitted). “It is difficult even for expert psychologists to differentiate between the juvenile offender whose crime reflects unfortunate yet transient immaturity, and the rare juvenile offender whose crime reflects irreparable corruption.” Id. at 573. Therefore, “juvenile offenders cannot with reliability be classified among the worst offenders.” Id. While “[a] juvenile is not absolved of responsibility for his actions,” his transgressions are “not as morally reprehensible as that of an adult.” Graham, 560 U.S. at 68 (internal citations omitted).

No LWOP for children convicted of non-homicide offenses

Sixteen-year old Terrance Graham entered guilty pleas to armed burglary and attempted armed robbery pursuant to a plea agreement. Graham, 560 U.S. at 53. Graham. The trial court sentenced Graham to concurrent three-year terms of probation. Id. at 54. Shortly thereafter, when Graham was seventeen-years old, he was arrested again and charged with home invasion robbery. Graham’s probation officer charged Graham with violating the terms of his probation. When Graham appeared before the trial court, he admitted to violating his probation by fleeing arrest. Id. at 55. After finding Graham had violated his probation, the trial judge, in his discretion, sentenced Graham to the maximum sentence of life.² During the sentencing proceeding, the judge provided his reasoning for the sentence: “We can’t do anything to deter you. This is the way you are going to lead your life.... I don’t see where I can do anything to help you any further.” Id. at 56-57.

² Florida had abolished its parole system; accordingly, the life sentence gave Graham no possibility of release unless he was granted executive clemency. Graham, 560 U.S. at 57.

The Supreme Court held that “for a juvenile offender who did not commit homicide the Eighth Amendment forbids the sentence of life without parole.” Id. at 74. The Graham Court relied upon developments in social science demonstrating the fundamental differences between juveniles and adults:

[D]evelopments in psychology and brain science continue to show fundamental differences between juvenile and adult minds. For example, parts of the brain involved in behavior control continue to mature through late adolescence. Juveniles are more capable of change than are adults, and their actions are less likely to be evidence of irretrievably depraved character than are the actions of adults. It remains true that from a moral standpoint it would be misguided to equate the failings of a minor with those of an adult, for a greater possibility exists that a minor’s character deficiencies will be reformed.

Id. at 68 (internal citations omitted).

The Court explained the decision was “necessary to prevent the possibility that life without parole sentences will be imposed on juvenile non-homicide offenders who are not sufficiently culpable to merit that punishment.” Id. at 74. Although “[a] state is not required to guarantee the eventual freedom to a juvenile offender convicted of a non-homicide crime,” the state must “give defendants like Graham some meaningful opportunity to obtain release based on demonstrated maturity and rehabilitation.” Id. “[W]hile the Eighth Amendment forbids a state from imposing a life without parole sentence on a juvenile non-homicide offender, it does not require the state to release that offender during his natural life.” Id. at 75. “The Eighth Amendment does not foreclose the possibility that persons convicted of non-homicide crimes committed before adulthood will remain behind bars for life. It does forbid states from making the judgment at the outset that those offenders never will be fit to reenter society.” Id.

While explaining its rationale, the Graham Court noted that a life without parole sentence is the “second most severe penalty permitted by law.” Id. at 69 (internal citations omitted). Additionally, “life without parole sentences share some characteristics with death sentences that are

shared by no other sentences.” Such a sentence “alters the offender’s life by a forfeiture that is irrevocable.” Id. For a juvenile offender, a life without parole sentence “means denial of hope; it means that good behavior and character improvement are immaterial; it means that whatever the future might hold in store for the mind and spirit [of the convict], he will remain in prison for the rest of his days.” Id. at 70 (quoting Naovarath v. State, 779 P.2d 944 (Nev. 1989)).

Finally, the Graham Court concluded that its new categorical rule “gives all juvenile non-homicide offenders a chance to demonstrate maturity and reform.” Id. at 79. “Life in prison without the possibility of parole gives no chance for reconciliation with society, no hope.” Id. However, “[m]aturity can lead to that considered reflection which is the foundation for remorse, renewal, and rehabilitation. A young person who knows that he or she has no chance to leave prison before life’s end has little incentive to become a responsible individual.” Id. By imposing a “categorical rule against life without parole for juvenile non-homicide offenders,” the Court avoided “the perverse consequences in which the lack of maturity that led to an offender’s crime is reinforced by the prison term.” Id.

No mandatory LWOP sentences for children

In Miller, the Court extended the reasoning of Roper and Graham by holding that mandatory sentences of life without parole for juvenile homicide offenders also violate the Eighth Amendment’s prohibition on cruel and unusual punishment. Miller, 567 U.S. at 465. This was a categorical ban. However, the Court further explained that while the decision did not foreclose imposition of a sentence without the possibility of a parole on a juvenile convicted of a homicide offense, the Court required the sentencer “to take into account how children are different, and how those differences counsel against irrevocably sentencing them to a lifetime in prison.” Id. at 479-480.

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