STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

ORIGINAL

Appeal from Laurens County
Donald B. Hocker, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

ARTHUR JASON BOWERS,

Appellant.

Appellate Case No. 2018-000868

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

SHERRIE BUTTERBAUGH
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 101477
P.O. Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-6305

DAVID M. STUMBO
Solicitor, Eighth Judicial Circuit

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED
JUL 01 2019
SC Court of Appeals

**STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals**

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

ARGUMENT

The trial court did not err in sentencing appellant to fifty years for murder because such a sentence allows for the possibility of release, particularly where our Supreme Court has explicitly declined to extend protections under federal law to juveniles serving *de facto* life sentences, *Miller* and *Aiken* do not extend to any sentence other than life without parole, and the argument is not preserved for review.

The trial court did not abuse its discretion in sentencing appellant to fifty years for murder as he received a valid term-of-years sentence and is eligible for release when he finishes his sentence. By their plain language *Miller v. Alabama*, 567 U.S. 460 (2012) and *Aiken v. Byars*, 410 S.C. 534, 765 S.E.2d 572 (2014) apply only to juvenile homicide offenders sentenced to life without parole and appellant is not part of that class. Neither our courts nor the United States Supreme Court have extended the *Miller* rule to apply to any other type of sentence, or so broadly construed the rule to include the argument made by appellant that his sentence for murder amounts to a *de facto* life without parole sentence. Critically, our Supreme Court recently held it was unwilling to extend United States Supreme Court precedent related to juvenile sentencing beyond its “explicit holding” until given the authority to do so. *State v. Slocumb*, Op. No. 27877, at *25-26; *32 (S.C. Sup. Ct. filed Apr. 3, 2019) (Shearouse Adv. Sh. No. 14). The Court specifically held it would not extend relief to juveniles serving *de facto* life sentences in certain circumstances. *See id.* at *40 (declining to extend relief for non-homicide juvenile offenders serving *de facto* life sentences, holding it does not violate the Eighth Amendment).

Notably, the argument appellant is serving the functional equivalent of a life sentence is not preserved for review as it was never raised to the trial court. Accordingly, appellant’s term-of-years sentence is not cruel and unusual punishment under the Eighth Amendment, and the

trial court did not err in making its determination.

Analysis

Standard of Review

In criminal cases, appellate courts review errors of law only. *State v. Gamble*, 405 S.C. 409, 415, 747 S.E.2d 784, 787 (2013) (citing *State v. Jacobs*, 393 S.C. 584, 586, 713 S.E.2d 621, 622 (2011)). A sentence will not be overturned absent an abuse of discretion when the ruling is based on an error of law. *Jacobs*, 393 S.C. at 584, 713 S.E.2d at 622. This Court reviews questions of law *de novo*. *State v. Whitner*, 399 S.C. 547, 552, 732 S.E.2d 861, 863 (2012) (citations omitted).

Objection to Sentence Generally, Whether it is Functional Equivalent of Life Sentence, and Whether it Violates State Constitution Not Preserved for Review

The issues raised in the brief to this Court are not preserved for review, as conceded by appellant. (FBOA, pp.4-6). Defense counsel did not object to the sentence appellant received, generally, nor did he request any sentence beyond something other than “the maximum amount of years available” and sought credit for time served. (R.p.395, lines 9-15). From the context of the transcript it appears the parties discussed in chambers a possible sentence and agreed appellant would not receive life without parole, but it cannot be said other sentences were discussed or challenged. (R.p.395, lines 1-7). Without more, defense counsel was required to object on the record to the sentence appellant received. Moreover, the argument that appellant’s sentence was the functional equivalent of a life sentence was never raised to the trial court. *See State v. Rogers*, 361 S.C. 178, 183, 603 S.E.2d 910, 912-913 (Ct. App. 2004) (explaining for an issue to be preserved for appellate review, it must have been: (1) raised to and ruled upon by the trial court; (2) raised by appellant; (3) raised in a timely manner; and (4) raised with sufficient specificity). Appellant also argues his sentence violates the state constitution which provides

greater protection than the federal constitution. (FBOA.pp.33-35). However, from the transcript, it appears the issue raised below was limited to whether appellant's sentence was unconstitutional under the Eighth Amendment of the federal constitution. (R.p.395); *see also State v. Freiburger*, 366 S.C. 125, 135, 620 S.E.2d 737, 742 (2005) (holding if an issue—including a constitutional one—is not presented to and ruled upon by the circuit court, it cannot be raised for the first time to the appellate court); *see also Slocumb*, Op. No. 27877, at *32 n.8 (declining to “address the import of state constitutional protections on Slocumb’s sentence” because he “did not argue he would be entitled to relief under [the] state constitution’s cruel and unusual punishments clause”). Because these issues were not raised to the trial court, it was denied an opportunity to consider, address, or rule upon the arguments. As a result, the arguments are not properly presented for appellate review to this Court.

Regardless, as will be discussed below, because our Supreme Court has explicitly declined to extend relief to juveniles serving *de facto* life sentences, appellant's sentences are not cruel and unusual and his sentences should be affirmed. *See id.* at *40 (declining to extend relief for non-homicide juvenile offenders serving *de facto* life sentences, holding it does not violate the Eighth Amendment).

Appellant Did Not Receive Functional Equivalent of a Life Sentence

Appellant did not receive a life sentence or the functional equivalent of one. He received a valid term-of-years sentence within the statutory range of murder. Appellant received an aggregate fifty-year sentence and will be released at the end of that term. Appellant has the possibility of release when his sentence ends. He was already afforded the relief *Miller* contemplates. Neither our courts nor the United States Supreme Court have held the *Miller* rule applied to sentences other than life without parole, such as a *de facto* life sentence or, for that

matter, defined or determined what constitutes a *de facto* life sentence. Critically, our Supreme Court chose not to extend protections to juveniles serving any sentence other than life without parole, such as a *de facto* life sentence. See *Slocumb*, Op. No. 27877, at *40 (declining to extend relief for non-homicide juvenile offenders serving *de facto* life sentences, holding it does not violate the Eighth Amendment). While *Slocumb* involved a non-homicide juvenile offender and the question of whether his aggregate 130-year sentence violated the Eighth Amendment, the Court's opinion is instructive for its reluctance to extend Supreme Court precedent beyond their "explicit holding[s]." *Id.* at *32. Following a discussion about specific juvenile sentencing cases and general Supreme Court jurisprudence, the Court explained:

The *Roper* [*v. Simmons*, 543 U.S. 551 (2005)]-*Graham* [*v. Florida*, 560 U.S. 48 (2010)]-*Miller* trilogy has resulted in much confusion and conflicting opinions in ascertaining the reach of the Eighth Amendment in the sentencing of juveniles. . . . Courts have struggled in good faith in trying to determine the manner in which juveniles may be constitutionally sentenced. We are one of those courts. Rather than predict what the Supreme Court may or may not do, we believe the proper course is to respect the Supreme Court's admonition that lower courts must refrain from extending federal constitutional protections beyond the line drawn by the Supreme Court.

Id. at *38-39. In revisiting the Eighth Amendment jurisprudence involving juvenile sentencing, the Court held:

[P]recedent dictates that only the [United States] Supreme Court may extend and enlarge the protections guaranteed by the United States Constitution. Once the Supreme Court has drawn a line in the sand, the authority to redraw that line and broaden federal constitutional protections is limited to our nation's highest court.

Id. at *25-26. The holding in *Slocumb* does not extend protection to juveniles such as appellant serving a valid term-of-years sentence for murder.

While appellant cited in his brief to cases which found a term-of-years or aggregate

sentence were the functional equivalent of life, there are many other courts which have found otherwise. *See e.g., Bunch v. Smith*, 685 F.3d 546, 552 (6th Cir. 2012) (determining until the Supreme Court rules term-of-year sentences resulting in the functional equivalent of life without parole offend the Eighth Amendment, such sentences do not violate clearly established federal law); *Contreras v. Davis*, 716 F. App'x 160, 163 (4th Cir. 2017) (declining to determine whether a 77-year sentence was a *de facto* life sentence that violated *Miller* and *Graham*); *In re Harrell*, 6th Cir. No. 16-1048, 2016 WL 4708184 (Sept. 8, 2016) (denying motion for successive federal habeas corpus petition, because defendant's 60-150 year sentence for murder when he was seventeen was not the functional equivalent of mandatory life without parole; defendant was eligible for parole at seventy-seven-years old); *State v. Nathan*, 522 S.W.3d 881, 893 (Mo. 2017) (en banc) (holding sentencing a juvenile to consecutive, lengthy sentences for multiple non-homicide offenses along with homicide was not the functional equivalent of life without parole); *State v. Ali*, 895 N.W.2d 237, 246 (Minn. 2017) (holding *Miller* did not apply to consecutive life sentences with possibility of release on multiple counts of murder, even if such sentence, in aggregate, was functional equivalent of life without possibility of parole); *Hobbs v. Turner*, 431 S.W.3d 283, 285, 289 (Ark. 2014) (holding an aggregate term of 55 years was constitutional under *Miller* because *Miller* applies only to mandatory sentences of life without parole); *State v. Kasic*, 228 P.3d 410, 414 (Ariz. Ct. App. 2011) (finding a sentence of 139.75 years, exceeding life expectancy, was not constitutionally excessive). A defendant's average life expectancy is not a "guaranteed date of death" and might change depending on his individual health, available healthcare, and other factors such as drug use. It is difficult to draw a line to conclude at what point a juvenile received a *de facto* life sentence so his term-of-years sentence violates the constitution, particularly in this case where no evidence of appellant's individual characteristics

was presented at trial as argued above. Therefore, because appellant did not receive a life without parole sentence, he received a fifty-year sentence for murder, he is eligible for release, and his sentence does not violate the Eighth Amendment, the trial court did not abuse its discretion and this Court should affirm the sentence.

*Individualized Sentencing Hearing Not Required Because Appellant
Not Exposed to Life Sentence*

The trial court did not err in when it did not hold an individualized sentencing hearing because the parties agreed appellant would not receive a life without parole sentence. At trial, the solicitor noted a discussion in chambers and stated on the record, “I understand based on the U.S. Supreme Court case given [appellant’s] age at the time of this event, he is not eligible for life without parole; however, we would request that Your Honor sentence him to a substantial number of years that would achieve the same effect.” (R.p.395, lines 2-7). While not a correct statement of the law, this benefited appellant as it did not expose him to a life sentence which he was eligible for by statute following his conviction for murder.

In *Miller v. Alabama*, 567 U.S. 460 (2012), the United States Supreme Court held mandatory life without parole sentences for juvenile homicide offenders violated the Eighth Amendment’s prohibition against cruel and unusual punishment. 567 U.S. at 465, 470. *Miller* did not categorically bar life sentences for juvenile murderers; rather, the Court held only that a sentencing court is required to “take into account how children are different, and how those differences counsel against irrevocably sentencing them to a lifetime in prison.” *Id.* at 480. The Court held a sentencing authority must consider youth a factor which carries with it immaturity, irresponsibility, and recklessness. *Id.* at 476. Further, the age of the defendant, along with his family background, and emotional development must be considered in assessing his culpability. *Id.*

Two years later, our Supreme Court held *Miller* applied retroactively to juveniles in South Carolina previously sentenced to life without parole. *Aiken*, 410 S.C. at 540-41, 765 S.E.2d at 575. Acknowledging *Miller* applied only to mandatory sentencing schemes rather than discretionary schemes such as ours, our Court stated “any juvenile offender who receives a sentence of life without the possibility of parole is entitled to the same constitutional protections afforded by the Eighth Amendment’s guarantee against cruel and unusual punishment.” *Aiken*, 410 S.C. at 544, 765 S.E.2d at 577. The Court determined the factors in *Miller* were those which must be considered during sentencing, such as the offender’s age and other features of youth, family life, circumstances of the crime, understanding of the legal process, and possibility of rehabilitation. *Id.* at 544-45, 765 S.E.2d at 577-78. Just as the *Miller* court held, our Court explained juveniles could still receive life without parole, but only after “an individualized hearing where the mitigating hallmark features of youth are fully explored.” *Id.* at 545, 765 S.E.2d at 578.

In 2016, the United States Supreme Court held its rule in *Miller* was retroactive on state collateral review. *Montgomery v. Louisiana*, 136 S.Ct. 718, 736 (2016). The Court also offered parole eligibility as a solution to states tasked with re-litigating cases where a juvenile received mandatory life without parole, as our Supreme Court did in *Slocumb*, because it offered juveniles an opportunity for release. *See Slocumb*, Op. No. 27877, at *39-40 (discussing juvenile sentencing statutes enacted in states such as Iowa which provide juvenile offenders “a meaningful opportunity to obtain release based on demonstrated maturity and rehabilitation” and detailing the bill introduced in South Carolina which provides, among other things, parole eligibility for juvenile homicide offenders after twenty-five years). The United States Supreme Court explained states could remedy a *Miller* violation—i.e. an unconstitutional sentence—by

permitting juvenile homicide offenders to be considered for parole, rather than resentencing them. *Montgomery*, 136 S.Ct. at 736. The Supreme Court carefully explained its determination did *not* require the states “to relitigate sentences, let alone convictions,” despite the fact juvenile offenders sentenced before *Miller* likely would not have received the type of sentencing considerations mandated by that decision. *Id.*; *see also Miller*, 567 U.S. at 483 (“Our decision . . . mandates only that a sentencer follow a certain process—considering an offender’s youth and attendant characteristics—before imposing [life without parole].”). Citing with approval a Wyoming statute which provided for juvenile parole eligibility after twenty-five years, the Court found allowing “those offenders to be considered for parole ensures those whose crimes reflected only transient immaturity—and who have since matured—will not be forced to serve a disproportionate sentence in violation of the Eighth Amendment.” *Montgomery*, 136 S.Ct. at 736. The Court continued, “Those prisoners who have shown an inability to reform will continue to serve life sentences. The opportunity for release will be afforded to those who demonstrate the truth of *Miller*’s central intuition—that children who commit even heinous crimes are capable of change.” *Id.*

In appellant’s case, there was no need for the trial court to hold an individualized sentencing hearing to examine the hallmark features of youth because the court was not going to consider a life sentence for appellant. Such a hearing is only necessary before a juvenile can be sentenced to life. *See Aiken*, 410 S.C. at 545, 765 S.E.2d at 578 (holding juveniles can still receive life without parole, but only after “an individualized hearing where the mitigating hallmark features of youth are fully explored.”). Further, during appellant’s case-in-chief, defense counsel presented testimony about his school history and the trial court heard about his struggles in class, his emotional and behavioral disabilities, time spent as schools for children

with disabilities, and classification as a child with severe emotional disabilities. (R.pp.275-91).

While not presented during a sentencing hearing, it cannot be said the trial court never heard mitigating details about appellant's life.

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